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Further praise for India Conquered:


‘Wilson understands the complexities of India, illuminating the cultures of the courts, the rivalries of the Marathas, the emergence and destinies of Pindari gangs of peasant-warriors’ Literary Review


‘The core of the book is a virtuoso takedown of cherished shibboleths of Raj mythology’ Financial Times


‘A neat and modern telling that feels as necessary as a bucket of water in the face after a dizzying trip to the bazaar’ The Times


‘Conquest comes in many forms and Jon Wilson’s polemical India Conquered is a forceful reminder that Britain has its own messy past to come to terms with’ Guardian
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‘The total character of the world is . . . in all eternity chaos.’


Friedrich Nietzsche, The Gay Science


‘Power cannot be made secure only against power, it also must be made secure against the weak; for there lies the peril of its losing balance.’


Rabindranath Tagore, ‘A Cry for Peace’







for Delilah and Elsie




CONTENTS


Epigraph


Preface: Facts on the Ground


1.  Society of Societies


2.  Trading with Ghosts


3.  Forgotten Wars


4.  Passion at Plassey


5.  New Systems


6.  Theatres of Anarchy


7.  The Idea of Empire


8.  Fear and Trembling


9.  The Making of Modern India


10.  The Legalization of India


11.  The Great Depression


12.  Governments within Governments


13.  Military Imperialism and the Indian Crowd


14.  Cycles of Violence


15.  The Great Delusion


List of Illustrations


Notes


Bibliography




Acknowledgements


Index







[image: image]









Preface


FACTS ON THE GROUND


While turning Bombay’s home for old European sailors into a legislative assembly in January 1928, labourers came across patches of red dust. The dust was the disintegrated remains of the city’s first English residents. Now 200 metres inland, workers had dug into a graveyard that once stood on the desolate promontory of Mendham’s Point, looking out over crashing waves and shipwrecks. There, senior English officers had been buried in elaborate tombs, but the bones of clerks and soldiers, the ordinary English functionaries of empire, were thrown in a shallow grave under a big slab of stone. Corpses were quickly dug out by jackals ‘burrowing in the ground like rabbits’, according to one account. Even the clergy were buried in common graves, with Bombay’s first five priests thrown together in one hole. The cemetery was ‘more terrible to a sick Bombaian than the Inquisition to a heretic’, one observer wrote. By 1928, the cemetery had been entirely forgotten.1


The English ruled territory in India from the 1650s. Britain was the supreme political force in the subcontinent that stretches from Iran to Thailand, from the Himalayas to the sea, from at least 1800 until 1947. These years of conquest and empire left remains that survived in South Asia’s soil, sometimes until today. Perhaps a quarter of a million Europeans are still buried in more than a thousand ‘cities of the dead’, as the British explorer Richard Burton called them in 1847, scattered through the countries that once made up British-ruled India – India, Bangladesh, Pakistan and Burma.


These graves trace the geography of British power during those years, marking the processes and places from which imperial authority was asserted. The earliest are in ports and forts like Bombay, Calcutta and Madras. There, tiny groups of British merchants sheltered behind thick stone walls, with white-skinned soldiers and gunners to protect them from people they tried to make money from. The largest numbers are close to British-built courts and tax offices, near blocky churches built quickly by army engineers as Britain’s conquests extended power through every part of India in the early nineteenth century. Some, like the graves every few miles on India’s grand trunk road between Calcutta and Delhi, are by highways, marking the death of Europeans travelling or laying roads. Others, like the hilltop cemetery at Khandala three hours’ train ride from Bombay, cling to slopes above railway tunnels built at the expense of many Indian and a few European lives, as the British asserted their power by cutting lines of steel into Indian soil from the late nineteenth century on. From the early 1800s the largest single group of graves were those of children, ‘little angels’, as the tombstones often described them, killed by disease in their first years before they could be shipped back to Britain to boarding school. One hundred and fifty-one of the nearly 400 gravestones in the cantonment town of Bellary marked the death of children under the age of seven. All these graves mark the death of Britons who intended to return home.2


There is little sense of imperial celebration in the inscriptions on these gravestones. More often, the words on tombs convey a sense of distance and failure. Epitaphs describe men and women retreating into small worlds cut off from Indian society who died unhappily distant from their homes. Very few mention any connection to the people they ruled. What mattered was their sense of private virtue and the esteem of British friends and family, close by or thousands of miles back in Britain or Ireland. Shearman Bird, dead in Chittagong at forty-one, ‘was a bright example of duty, affection, strength of principle and unshakeable fidelity’, his gravestone says. ‘His converse with this world contaminated not his genuine worth.’ Richard Becher, dead at Calcutta in 1782, was buried ‘[u]nder the pang of disappointment / and the pressure of the climate’. Graves like Bird’s and Becher’s were not those of a triumphant race, but the tombstones of ‘a people scattered by their wars and affairs over the face of the whole earth, and homesick to a man’, as the American Ralph Waldo Emerson wrote of the English.3


There are 1,349 recorded British graveyards in South Asia. Now they are quiet and still, the only signs of life coming from the visits of grass cutters or tourists. But other imperial remains in modern South Asia are full of activity.4 South Asia’s independent states have moved into the institutions of British rule, many close to the centres of present-day public power. The architecture of old Indian city centres usually conforms roughly to imperial plans, with sites of administration standing aloof from the centres of commercial activity, in quiet, green, low-rise compounds, with court buildings and tax offices together with residences for senior officers. Through the Indian subcontinent court cases are decided, taxes collected and laws made in British-era buildings. Many of the jobs people do now link back to British days. In many districts, the chief local administrator is still called the Collector. Local courts, treasuries, irrigation offices and public works departments have boards listing their chief officers which stretch back a century or more, suggesting an unbroken continuity between the present and the imperial past. The current manual to India’s Public Works administration, published in 2012, begins by noting that ‘the present form’ of the department was inaugurated in 1854 by Lord Dalhousie, the Governor-General whose actions instigated the great north Indian rebellion of 1857–8. There is no mention that India became independent in 1947.5


Perhaps the most pervasive legacy of empire is the imperial system of record keeping. At every place where there is some kind of official activity, pre-paid taxi booths or airport security scanners, police stations and licensed offices, details are written in pen in big lined ledgers. India exports computer professionals by the thousand and its government has put more data online than any other state. Yet its filing schemes and administrative systems are little changed since the days of the British empire. The latest edition of the Indian government’s office manual has not altered much since the 1920s, the most recent editions simply adding an extra line in the list of correspondence that can be processed by the state’s departments: email.6


It is easy to imagine that these legacies are the remains of a powerful and purposive regime. Colonial cemeteries, imperial-era courts, grand railway stations and fat, rigid looking law codes seem to indicate a regime that had a sense of purpose and power. They allow many, Britons and some Indians, to look back on the ‘Raj’ as a period of authority, a time when Pax Britannica imposed reason and order on Indian society and corruption or violence were less rife than now.


This book shows how those perceptions are wrong. They are, rather, the projections of British imperial administrators with a vested interest in asserting that they ruled a stable and authoritative regime. From Robert Clive to Louis Mountbatten, the Britons who governed in India were desperate to convince themselves and the public that they ruled a regime with the power to shape the course of events. In fact, each of them scrabbled to project a sense of their authority in the face of circumstances they could not control. Their words were designed to evade their reliance on Indians they rarely felt they could trust. They used rhetoric to give verbal stability to what they and many around them castigated as the chaotic exercise of power. But too many historians and writers assume the anxious protestations of imperial bureaucrats were accurate depictions of a stable structure of authority. The result is a mistaken view of empire. We end up with an ‘image of empire as a sort of machine operated by a crew who know only how to decide but not to doubt’, as historian Ranajit Guha describes it.7


In practice the British imperial regime in India was ruled by doubt and anxiety from beginning to end. The institutions mistaken as means of effective power were ad hoc measures to assuage British fear. Most of the time, the actions of British imperial administrators were driven by irrational passions rather than calculated plans. Force was rarely efficient. The assertion of violent power usually exceeded the demands of any particular commercial or political interest.


Britain’s interest in India began in the 1600s with the efforts of English merchants to make money by shipping Asian goods to Europe. At the start, traders who did not use force made more money. Isolated, lonely, desperate to prove their worth to compatriots back home, Britons believed they could only profit with recourse to violence. An empire of commerce quickly became an empire of forts and armies, comfortably capable of engaging in acts of conquest. Even then violence was rarely driven by any clear purpose. Most of the time, it was instigated when British profit and authority seemed under challenge. It was driven on paranoia, by the desire of men standing with weapons to look powerful in the face of both their Indian interlocutors and the British public at home. But violence did not create power. Most of the time it only temporarily upheld the illusion of authority.


From the middle of the nineteenth century, as more Britons arrived to rule India, the imperial regime seemed more stable. The fiction of power was sustained by its ability to manipulate the world of things as much as to commit acts of violence. Authority began to be built in stone, in the construction of ornate imperial follies like Frederick Stevens’ Royal Alfred Sailor’s Home, the elaborate Bombay gothic construction built on the site of Bombay’s first European cemetery in 1876, or Edwin Lutyens’ massive Viceroy’s Palace in New Delhi. In a more prosaic way, the British tried to assert their power on the surface of the earth, in roads, telegraphs, railway lines, survey boundary markers. In each case they used their capacity to re-engineer the physical fabric of India as a surrogate for their failure to create an ordered imperial society.


The British used paper as a surrogate for authority, too, asserting power in census reports and judicial decisions, regulations and surveys. By 1940 more than 400 different ledgers were being maintained in each district office in the province of Bengal, and that number does not include the register of things like birth, death and company directorships held by other departments. British administrators created a form of government that reduced the lives of people to lines in accounting books as if they were goods to be traded. Once official writing could be reproduced by printing and typewriters, the British civil service in India became a massive publishing house. Asserting power in reams of writing was a way to mitigate the chaos that British policies and interests had created by creating order in a small realm that was closest to hand. It also cut the British off from the messy entanglement with Indians they believed might endanger British rule. In practice, British engagement with the complex reality of Indian life was limited and brief. Judging in court or demarcating agrarian boundaries were cursory acts, involving as little conversation with the subjects of empire as could be managed, before officials retreated back into comfortable European worlds, their home, the club, their minds. Whether using guns or cannons, railway lines or survey sticks, the techniques used to assert British power shared a common effort to rule without engaging with the people being ruled. As long as they could get on with their job (whatever that job was) Britons in India were rarely interested in the people among whom they lived.


Imperial rule in India was not driven by a consistent desire to dominate Indian society. The British were rarely seized by any great effort to change India. There was no ‘civilizing mission’. The first, often the only, purpose of British power in India was to defend the fact of Britain’s presence on Indian ground. Through the seventeenth to twentieth centuries, India was a place where good livelihoods for individual members of Britain’s middle and upper classes were made. ‘The East is a career’, as the British politician Sir Henry Coningsby said in Benjamin Disraeli’s novel Tancred. When he said that he did not mean it was worthwhile. Coningsby’s point was that politics in Britain was the only proper pursuit for a gentleman, and that empire in India was a romantic distraction. In real life ‘India’ was a career that did not link to any great national or social purpose. The most important thing for those Britons who chose it was the retention of personal dignity (in a world that offered great scope for humiliation) and to return home relatively young with a good pension.8


Careers in the British Indian government were often transmitted from father to son. Some British elite families had four or five generations holding government office. Take the Stracheys, whose most famous son, the Edwardian writer Lytton, wrote a coruscating attack on the hypocrisy of Victorian values. Strachey’s Eminent Victorians, published in 1918, criticized the previous two generations’ combination of high-mindedness with imperial violence. The Victorians praised God yet built a ‘system by which it sought to settle international disputes by force’, Strachey noted. Strachey was writing about his own family. Over four generations, members of the Strachey dynasty traced every turn in the patterns of British power in India. Lytton Strachey’s great-grandfather was Robert Clive’s private secretary. His grandfather and great-uncle were district magistrates in Bengal. He was named after the Earl of Lytton, Viceroy of India between 1876 and 1880. His uncle was an imperial bureaucrat who wrote the ‘standard reference for the facts of Indian politics and economics’, published in 1888. His father was an irrigation engineer, the first secretary of British India’s public works department, and a pioneer of cost-benefit accounting. Strachey’s brother ended up as chief engineer on the East Indian Railways. His cousin was the judge in Bombay who tried and convicted the Indian nationalist Bal Gangadhar Tilak in 1897, in the process widening the definition of sedition to include any text not actively positive about British rule. For each generation, the greatest concern was to maintain the institutions that supported the family business of empire.


With his family’s life so deeply immersed in talk of empire, Strachey was no anti-imperialist. He spent his early twenties writing a 400-page thesis on Warren Hastings, a work which saw its subject as ‘the one great figure of his time’. Strachey’s critique was that empire was banal, lonely, purposeless. There was no grand imperial mission; the British were merely ‘policemen and railway makers’. Strachey was filled with pity for his relatives, seized by a sense of ‘the horror of the solicitude and the wretchedness of every single [English] creature out there and the degrading influences of so many years away from civilization’. India was a place to try and ‘go away and be a great man’, but Warren Hastings would have been more use to the world if he had stayed at home and become a great Greek scholar.9


For the centuries of its existence, there was something self-justifying and circular about the reasoning Britons used to justify the family business of imperial rule. The empire’s few grand statements of principle came when the livelihood of British officers seemed under the greatest threat. Then, political leaders responded with exaggerated rhetoric, but that rhetoric often meant little in practice. In 1922, David Lloyd George described the elite civil service as India’s ‘steel frame’. Lloyd George’s words came in a parliamentary debate in which MPs complained about the low morale and declining pay of British officers in Asia. After the First World War, the British faced a fiscal crisis and a revival in opposition from Indian nationalists. The government felt it had no choice but to allow Indians to start sharing power with their masters, not least to part justify the claim that the First World War had been fought to defend liberty against autocratic powers. In response to a demand for reassurance that positions in the business of empire would not contract, Lloyd George offered fine words but few promises. His metaphor of the ‘steel frame’ was part of an anxious tirade asserting the centrality of the civil servant to Britain’s rapidly collapsing empire. Official unease continued to intensify, accelerating the process in which the British handed over positions of power.


We tend to see empires as systems of effective economic and intellectual power, as structures aiming to subordinate as much of the world as they can to their commercial power and values. The context to Lloyd George’s words shows that empire is not what we now often think it is. In fact, in India, the British empire was never a project or system. It was something far more anxious and chaotic. From beginning to end, it was ruled by individual self-interest, by a desire for glory and a mood of fear, by deeply ingrained habits of command and rarely any grand public reason. It consisted of fiercely guarded outposts of British sovereign power; it did not possess a machinery able to impose British authority evenly across Indian land. To see the real life of Britain’s strange imperial state at work, we need to look beneath the abstract statements of great imperial officers trying to persuade their peers of their power and virtue. We need to tell the story instead of how British and Indian lives became entangled, often fractiously, sometimes violently, on Asian soil.



1


SOCIETY OF SOCIETIES


The Indian subcontinent is the fastest moving place on earth, geologically speaking. It was formed when a massive chunk of the great southern continent of Gondwana sheared off 100 million years ago, sped through the Indian Ocean at the lightning speed of twenty centimetres per year and then slammed into the Eurasian landmass. The violence of the split created a 1000-metre-high escarpment, and caused the subcontinent to tilt downhill from west to east. Those cliffs are now the Western Ghats, a mountain range less than a hundred miles from India’s west coast. The subcontinent’s tilt causes the flow of water from west to east across nearly all of South Asia’s landmass. To the north, the shock of collision is still creating the world’s highest mountain range, the Himalayas, most of whose meltwaters drain out through the massive Ganges river delta in the east.


India’s violent geological origins shaped the movement of people to and in the subcontinent. They forged a landmass divided into different ecological zones, each repelling or attracting men and women searching for a better livelihood or striving for power. At the far north of the subcontinent the Himalayas and Hindu Kush mountain ranges form a 3000-kilometre border which blocks the route to China and Central Asia, apart, that is, from a few valleys, the Khyber Pass being the most famous. For thousands of years their grassy foothills fed cattle and horses which hill-dwellers took back and forth to India’s plains. Often, they joined armies battling for control of the central north of the subcontinent: Punjab, Rajasthan, the Delhi plain and then the plain which stretches east around the Ganges. These flat, wheat-growing lands formed the heartland of the empires that governed much of India in historic times.1


Further south, the Deccan plateau rises up and spreads out in a raised triangle sloping west to east, reaching a kilometre at its highest point, and extending to India’s far south. The plateau is dotted with rocky protuberances which provide the foundations for hundreds of forts, surveying, defending and threatening the surrounding countryside. It has always been hard to persuade the Deccan’s black, hard soil to produce edible crops, but the land is good for growing cotton. Until the slave plantations of the American South expanded cultivation in the last years of the eighteenth century, the Deccan was the world’s greatest source of cotton fibre. But cotton has never been enough to sustain an entire community’s livelihood. Unable to feed conquering armies, the Deccan has been the graveyard of empires. In the late nineteenth century it was scene of the British regime’s worst ever famines.2


For millennia from the Deccan plateau people have migrated to wetter lands to the west and the east. Until relatively recently, they largely failed to dominate the thin coastal strip between the subcontinent’s great western escarpment and the Arabian Sea. This lush, undulating stretch of land extends from Bombay to Kerala. It is cut through with rivers which carry water from the monsoon rains quickly to the sea. The difficulty of moving on land through this wet, hilly, undulating landscape meant settlements were less prone to the encroachment of raiding armies or tax collectors from the interior. The climate is good for growing spices, cinnamon, nutmeg and, above all, pepper. Before good roads and railways cut permanent lines up though the hills, India’s west coast was often better connected to the Middle East or Africa than the Indian interior; it was ‘long-guarded by tight-fisted foreigners’, as one seventeenth-century chronicler put it. This is where Christianity and Islam first took root. It is also where European fleets initially landed.3


Land to the east was easier to access and conquer. Here an arc of territory sweeps down from the far east of Bengal to the south of the Indian landmass merging with the sea in a series of flat, convoluted, ever-shifting river deltas. The Himalayas’ waters drain through the Ganges and Brahmaputra rivers into the Bengal delta, merging and splitting into the distributary channels that now dominate the landscape of Bangladesh, the Jamuna and Padma. Further south, water flows in narrow streams through the Deccan plain and discharges into the sea through a succession of river deltas: the Mahanadi, Godavari, Krishna, Penna, Cauvery. India’s eastern coast and rivers are rich, well-watered rice-growing alluvial land where a family can live with relatively little labour. Household industries grew quickly, with large numbers of people making a living spinning and weaving cotton and silk, for example. This is a region whose towns and villages are quickly reached on horseback, on foot, or by boat. Until the middle of the nineteenth century it attracted migrants and raiders from across the subcontinent. It was here that the English fought their first battles and first conquered land.4


These geographical differences shaped the politics of India, helping mould the variety of units in which India’s population ruled themselves for centuries. Along India’s south-west coastline, the difficulty of transportation created small settlements ruled by warrior-peasants proud of their refusal to submit to outside power, called Nairs in the far south, Bunts further north. Decisions were made in meetings premised on the capacity of each member to have their say. In the Deccan and India’s northern plain, the idea of military brotherhood was important, too, but greater mobility meant it was easier for villagers to be integrated into larger political units. In Gujarat in coastal western India the village leader or Patidar, often also given the surname Patel, was supposed both to communicate between villagers and regional officials or kings. In Maharashtra, to the south and east, the right of individuals to cultivate particular plots of land was supposed to be agreed in assemblies of landholders, presided over by the local deshmukhs (literally heads of the land).


In India’s deltaic east, the ease with which rice could be cultivated and distributed created larger political formations. From Bengal to Tamil-speaking country in the south, eastern India was dominated by little kingdoms that stretched for tens or hundreds of miles, ruled by leaders with titles like raja, reddy, palaiyakar or zamindar, the latter word meaning ‘landholder’ in Persian, the language of India’s early modern ruling class. The politics of these places was no less dynamic or argumentative than the west, but power was shaped more through negotiation between kings and subjects than discussion among supposed equals. The prosperity of eastern India’s rice-growing land meant, if conditions became difficult, the best option was often to move elsewhere rather than fight.


Friendship and union


In 1600, when the English East India Company started planning its first voyages, the Indian subcontinent was a society of little societies. Politics was driven by the effort of men and sometimes women to build power by creating a following. Authority was built in alliances between groups of people that had their own organization and identity. In their doomed effort to tell a single story about India, later British administrators gave the groups that formed from this process fixed labels. Some argued that it was caste that was crucial, but were not sure whether caste was defined by occupation or race. Others suggested it was the village that characterized the essence of Indian group life. In reality, India’s little societies took thousands of different forms, varying according to political and particularly geographical conditions. Nicholas Dirks, a critic of European representations of Asia, puts it well: in India before the British the ‘units of social identity were multiple’, their trajectories ‘part of a complex, conjunctural, constantly changing political world’.5


India had long been shaped by a continual process of overland circular migration. Beginning in the second millennium BCE people moved back and forth, as groups of herders drove their cattle down onto the plains, perhaps because of a succession of hard winters, bringing their horses, cattle, language and religion, but then returning to their original societies. The same process continued with less or more violence over the next three millennia. From the thirteenth century many of these warrior-adventurers were Muslims who travelled to India as part of the horse trade, selling steeds for use in transportation and battle. Some settled, becoming local lords or creating regimes that grew to rule large areas of Indian territory. They did so partly through the recruitment and management of soldiers and partly through their capacity to persuade enough of India’s myriad little societies that it was in their interests to submit to their authority. They did not conquer as strangers, but imposed power over societies they had long had dealings with and knew well.


By 1600, the Mughal dynasty had ruled the northern Indian plain for eighty years and was extending its sway beyond. The empire was founded in the 1520s by descendants of Genghiz Khan and his Turko-Mongol successor Timur (Tamerlane to contemporary Europeans). The Mughal dynasty first ruled an area in Uzbekistan that had long been an important part of the silk route. A series of local conflicts forced them to look to territories beyond their homeland. Gaining control of Kabul the Mughals then pushed on to the more fertile lands beyond the Khyber Pass in the late 1520s, gaining supporters as they went. The first Mughal armies were relatively small, only 12,000 fighting at the Battle of Panipat in 1526, for example. They won initially by using cannon and matchlock rifles against Afghan and Rajput rulers who up to that point relied on mounted swordsmen.


The Mughals had adopted the language and political and religious culture of the Middle East’s most stable and sophisticated empire, Persia. Their firepower came through Persia, too. But Central Asia’s loose, nomadic style of government influenced the empire until the end: ‘Mughal’ is just the Persian word for Mongol. Just as their Central Asian ancestors sojourned in India for millennia, the empire’s first two rulers, Babur and Humayun, journeyed back and forth along the diagonal route that cuts down from Central Asia through the Himalayas to the Ganges plain. Akbar (1556–1605), the emperor whose reign coincides almost exactly with that of Queen Elizabeth I of England (1558–1603), created a more stable structure. Movement was important to the way the Mughals did politics until the eighteenth century, and it was shaped by India’s geography. From Akbar to Alamgir (who ruled between 1659 and 1707, and is also known by his birth-name Aurangzeb), the emperors resided in their capital city only four-tenths of the time, and the capital itself kept moving, between Delhi, Agra, Lahore and Fatehpur Sikri. When they were in the field, emperors moved to and fro, first travelling to conquer the lush rich lands of the east, then, under Alamgir, invading the dry Deccan to the south. Such constant movement was necessary so that people could see the splendour of authority close up. Local rulers needed to negotiate their submission to imperial power in person.


Mughal conquests were not about violence alone. Territories came under Mughal rule as local leaders were coaxed into shifting their allegiance to the new regime. Force was needed to demonstrate the potency of Mughal authority, but it was followed by affection. ‘[A]s soon as fear and aversion had worn away,’ one Mughal noble said, describing the process during the eighteenth century, ‘we see that dissimilarity and alienation have terminated in friendship and union, and that the two nations have come to coalesce together into one whole, like milk and sugar that have received a simmering.’ For union to be possible, new subjects needed proof that the Mughals could protect and enhance people’s livelihoods. That meant the regime was able to defend itself and its subjects from external threats, but also to support local agriculture and industry sufficiently to sustain decent living standards.6


Living from generation to generation on Indian soil, the Mughal regime nonetheless created a distinct Persian-speaking administrative cadre. The work of this highly trained class of men was governed by practices which defined their existence as a separate, skilled elite class: hunting, falconry, particular forms of music and Persian literature. Their formal status was defined by an empire-wide system of numerical ranking. The emperor moved senior Mughal officers from region to region to ensure they did not get too close to local society. But the Mughal elite’s intention was not to impose the will of a centralized state through every part of Indian society.


Mughal officers defined their task as to keep an ordered balance between the different forces which constituted Indian society. Long before the British emphasized the diversity of India’s castes, regions and religions, Mughal political leaders recognized India as a society of societies, cut through with social, cultural and religious differences; there could be no such thing as Mughal nationalism. The Mughal political order was based first on submission to the personal authority of the emperor, then on fostering harmony between different groups rather than imposing homogeneity or enforcing compliance. Mughal governors left decision-making to local leaders they trusted. Disputes between merchants were adjudicated by local merchant corporations; villagers and townsfolk were left to govern their own societies. Even under Emperor Alamgir, often seen as an Islamic zealot, the Mughal regime recognized India’s different religious practices and institutions, making little effort to convert non-Muslims or force them to accord with Islamic law. When Hindu temples were destroyed it was because they belonged to rulers who refused to submit to the emperor’s authority, not because they symbolized religious difference. The Mughal elite thought their power was best sustained if different groups retained their distinct characteristics, and it tried to maintain a harmonious balance between each.7


The scope for local autonomy meant politics in Mughal India was a talkative, argumentative, often rebellious enterprise. There were millions of public spaces in villages, towns and cities where the acts and beliefs of the powerful could be debated and challenged. India before British rule was not a particularly deferential society. It was not unusual for the preacher in a mosque to be interrupted in the middle of a sermon and be challenged to a debate, nor for disciples to correct their masters, or subjects to challenge sovereigns in their courts. Ordinary people were continually part of public debate in the street, in bazaars and at fairs. Early eighteenth-century Delhi had street corners set aside for public speeches. An English traveller described sweet shops (‘the coffee house of India!’) as places ‘where all subjects except that of the ladies, are treated with freedom’, where conversation occurred without the ‘refinement of language, as among politicians of an European capital’, yet with ‘equal fervour and strength of voice’. The scope for ordinary people to criticize meant resistance was common, and had to be heeded by those in power. In Ahmedabad, capital of the province of Gujarat, throughout the late 1600s officers were routinely pelted with stones when they tried to increase prices. In the Mughal empire’s biggest port of nearby Surat, traders frequently shut up shop and refused to do business unless the government met their requests, on a few occasions forcing the town’s governor to be sacked, to be replaced by someone more sympathetic to their interests. Another tactic was for crowds to halt prayers being said in mosques. The emperor’s name was read out at each sermon, so preventing prayers was a way of challenging the empire’s legitimacy.8


Early modern India was a highly literate society, where economic and political life was documented by meticulous record keeping. Every small society had its office, or kachchari, staffed by managers, administrators and clerks who kept tabs on who owned what. The 1600s saw the rise of the scribe, of men belonging to communities which had cultivated writing and accountancy as hereditary skills such as Kayasthas in eastern India or Chitpavan Brahmins in the west. Scattered through the archives of present-day South Asia are millions of documents produced by these men, a vast and underused record of the social history of India before British rule.9


The increase of paperwork in Mughal India did not lead to the growth of centralized governments that tried to control every detail of local society. Writing was a way of recording the complex details of local circumstances, not assimilating them to a single set of rules. Often, local records were simply an extension of the documents that households used to manage their finances. Records were often hidden or burnt when central officers came to inspect them, because they indicated the presence of taxable resources. Their seizure by agents of the state, before and during British rule, was fiercely resisted. In 1780 the Rani of Rajshahi in Bengal condemned East India Company officers for beating up her servants because they would not hand over accounts.10


Authority in Mughal India was based on the balance between trusting personal relationships and violence. Despite the flow of information on paper, face-to-face contact was crucial. Coming into the physical presence of the hakim (the ruler) was the central source of Mughal power. The exchange of gifts between rulers and subjects built and cemented reciprocal relationships. Important subjects gave gifts that ranged from coins to elephants, and were dressed by the ruler with a khil’at, or sir-o-pa (Arabic for dress, or Persian for head to foot). These were full sets of silk clothes which enacted their incorporation into the body politic. In this world written agreements, in Persian called parwanas, firmans, sanads and razenames, were used, but ‘most of the time, judgment’ in disputes that came before the ruler was ‘delivered only verbally and [is] not recorded in writing’. The East India Company’s later insistence on fixing its trading privileges in writing challenged the essentially oral nature of social relations in the subcontinent.11


Hard country


The decentralized, continually contestable character of politics created space for challengers to grow within the political structures of Mughal government. Rebellion was ever-present in the Mughal empire. It was not rare for insurgent local lords to ally themselves with the emperor’s rivals in court to try to loosen his grasp on central power. The fate of a regime depended on its capacity to create a broad but authoritative base of support, enticing potentially recalcitrant supporters with political and financial opportunity while demonstrating power by crushing out-and-out rivals. Emperors did not see it as beneath them to haggle over the terms on which a minor landholder would submit. In this fluid, argumentative political world there were few permanent alliances. Friendship, maintained by continual favours and constant conversation, was the only way to make sure someone stayed onside.


The greatest challenge to Mughal power came from a group of lower-caste peasant-warriors originally from the hilly regions of western Maharashtra. The Marathas started off as military contractors, guarding and raiding the trade routes which transported goods, particularly cotton, between the Deccan plain and the coast; commerce with Europe was significant in the initial build-up of Maratha power. Shahji Bhonsle, born in around 1600, built an army of perhaps 20,000 men as a sub-contractor of the Muslim Sultanates which ruled land south of Mughal territory in the Deccan. His son Shivaji built his own independent authority in the hills around Pune from the 1650s. With tactics honed in their home landscape, the Marathas avoided confronting enemies in battle, raiding their supply trains to strip them of food, then leaving them to starve in the dry Deccan before retreating to the mountains. ‘[E]ven the steed of unimaginable exertion is too weak to gallop over this hard country,’ Shivaji wrote to the Emperor Alamgir. ‘My home’, he said, ‘is not situated on a spacious plain.’12


There was little to distinguish the Maratha style of conquest and politics from that of the Mughals, other than short-term military tactics. In fact, they continually negotiated with Mughal authorities, constantly seeking good terms on which to submit to Mughal power. Only a set of avoidable misunderstandings ensured negotiations continually broke down, and allowed the Marathas to have more independence than other political forces. Shivaji had initially written to the Emperor Alamgir asking for the Mughal empire to acknowledge his authority over his lands in return for sending 500 soldiers to the Mughal army. He demanded portions of the land tax from neighbouring regions called cauth (a quarter), paid in return for not unleashing devastation on a particular area, plus the one-tenth share which usually went to the local king; together making 35 per cent of local resources as, in effect, protection money.13


To deal with these claims Alamgir sent his uncle and leading military commander Shaista Khan to negotiate Shivaji’s submission, offering the Maratha leader land grants but not giving in to his full demands. When negotiations broke down in 1663, Shivaji broke into the Mughal camp and killed Shaista’s son. Alamgir sent more soldiers. Even then, talking continued, and a deal was briefly reached. Shivaji was invited, along with 250 of his troops, to the Mughal capital to discuss with the emperor his submission to Mughal power. But the Maratha leader was insulted about being treated like a mere landholder rather than a king; he refused to put on the ceremonial robes he was offered, stormed out of Alamgir’s audience hall and fled back to Maharashtra. Even then, Shivaji agreed to peace, sending his son to Alamgir’s court to be recognized as a Mughal official as well as a small army to join the emperor’s main force.


Shivaji died in 1680. His last eleven years were spent in constant war with Mughal armies, leading to his eventual decision to have himself crowned as an independent Hindu king, an audacious act for a man who did not belong to the kingly Kshatriya caste. After his death, Shivaji’s empire was divided between factions that wanted to ally with members of the Mughal ruling class and those that did not. The Maratha regime was driven back to a series of hilltop hideouts scattered throughout southern India, and was all but extinguished. It expanded after Alamgir’s death in 1707, when weakened Mughal leaders sought the submission of Maratha generals on easier terms. Eventually, in 1719, the Mughals granted them 35 per cent of all local resources in western India as a way of keeping the area under some form of Mughal authority. The Marathas went on to become the leading political force in eighteenth-century India, powerfully shaping the process by which British power emerged. But their growth took place as a vassal of the Mughal empire.14


An absolute externality


The Marathas were very much part of the pattern of early modern Indian politics, with its shifting alliances, constant negotiation and capacious political structures able to embrace radically different faiths, institutions and ways of life. Christian Europe was a different world altogether, often as much as ten months away by sea. Stepping ashore after thousands of miles at sea, the Portuguese, Dutch, French and English knew little of the country and were unknown quantities. Europeans saw themselves as, in the words of Ranajit Guha, an ‘absolute externality’ to Indian society, an attitude that was often reciprocated. A Sinhalese observer of the Portuguese in the 1500s described them as ‘a race of white and very beautiful people, who wear boots and hats of iron and never stop in any place. They eat a sort of white stone and drink blood’.15


Since the days of the Roman empire, Europe had been connected to Asia, but it was linked by such an extensive chain of trading connections that the origins of communication were quickly lost. Gujarati merchants would buy spices and cloth, which they sold to Ottoman traders across the Arabian Sea, who in turn traded with Venetian merchants for widespread distribution throughout northern Europe. Some Europeans did travel to India but direct contact was limited.


The Portuguese nobleman Vasco da Gama led the first European ships to sail around the African coast, landing near Calicut in the summer of 1498. The plan was to open up the spice trade between India and Europe, and find isolated groups of Christians who would help the Portuguese challenge the Muslim Ottoman empire in Europe. The absence of everyday contact with Indian society meant the Portuguese were seen, and saw themselves, as strangers in a strange land. So great was their ignorance that Vasco returned to Europe believing that Kerala’s Hindu temples were in fact the churches of a heterodox Christian sect. The next decade saw an average of fifteen ships a year arriving to conquer a succession of forts on India’s south-west coast.16


The Portuguese would dominate the seaborne trade of this sliver of land for the next century. Their power was centred in Goa, halfway down the Indian peninsula. It spread by peppering the west coast of India with seventy sea forts. The Portuguese traded with a string of small principalities which were defended from the Mughals and Marathas by India’s great escarpment, the Western Ghats. Western India’s geography made it hard for land-based powers to interrupt their maritime activities, but it also stopped the Portuguese from having any impact on India’s interior.


From the 1500s, Portugal had claimed to be ‘lords of the sea’ throughout Asia. The theoretical basis of their assertion lay in Pope Alexander VI’s bequest of the trade of ‘the eastern extremities of Asia’ to Portugal in 1493. ‘[T]oo mad for the veriest visionary that ever played with the imagination’, this was a claim Europe’s Protestants fiercely contested. The Dutch philosopher Hugo Grotius calling it ‘empty ostentation’, but the Portuguese tried to make it a reality by installing a form of military bureaucracy in the sea lanes of western India. Concerned first of all to establish a monopoly on commerce in spices and then horses, the Portuguese found it more profitable to tax other people’s trade. Heavily armed Portuguese ships forced every vessel sailing in the region to buy a pass, or cartaz, from them, and then to dock at Portuguese forts where they were required to pay customs duties.


Portuguese sea power was based on the fact that they, just like the Mughals, had bigger and better cannon than their rivals to begin with. Their naval artillery did not help the Portuguese control the trade in spices, horses or anything else, but it did ensure that their system for taxing other people’s trade was effective, if ‘not excessively irksome’, as historian Michael Pearson puts it. As Pearson points out, local Indian regimes could have invested in better cannon and ships to defeat the Portuguese. A concerted effort by land-based powers would have overcome the barrier of the Western Ghats and driven them into the sea. But it was cheaper for Indian merchants simply to buy Portuguese passports and pay their taxes. By 1600 a European power had a foot in India, but it was a hold which had little impact on the rest of the subcontinent. ‘Wars by sea are merchants’ affairs’, said one ruler of Gujarat, ‘and of no concern to the prestige of kings.’17


The Portuguese presence on India’s west coast was challenged by a rival European maritime state, in the shape of the Netherlands. Merchant adventurers from republican, Protestant Holland sent dozens of fleets in the 1590s to challenge Catholic Iberian control of the spice trade. In 1601 sixty-five ships left for the Indian Ocean. The following year the Dutch East India Company was founded to merge and coordinate the actions of competing Dutch traders and provide an effective military challenge against Portugal’s fleets and forts. It always focused more on Indonesia than India, but by the 1650s the Dutch Company had built a network of eleven forts, centred at Kochi in Kerala, and had a significant presence at the Mughal port of Hughli in eastern India. By then it had driven Portugal from her domination of the pepper trade on India’s south-west coast, and had a good stake in the export of Indian silk and cotton from the subcontinent. The Dutch maintained their supremacy over European trade to South East Asia until the late 1700s; but from the 1680s their brief hegemony over trade with India was being challenged by a new power from the west, the English East India Company. The island of Bombay was handed by the Portuguese to England in 1661. Twenty-five years later the English had built a string of pepper forts in Kerala, too.


The rise of the English East India Company during the next century and a half was based on the exercise of violence on land more than sea. Robert Clive, the East India Company officer usually associated with Britain’s first conquests in India, was a leader of armies not navies. The forces which conquered India were commanded by generals with military experience drawn from land wars in America or Europe, from Charles, Earl of Cornwallis, to Arthur Wellesley, later the Duke of Wellington, Francis, Marquess of Hastings to Sir Henry Havelock. The British were the first Europeans to build a landed empire in southern Asia. They were able to conquer on land because of transformations that occurred in the structure of India’s great agrarian empires in the eighteenth century, not in the disposition of sea power. Those changes were wrought by invading forces that marched over land from Persia and Afghanistan.


Yet throughout the years when the power of the British grew they remained strangers from over the ocean. Invariably, Britons arrived after long sea voyages with little practical knowledge of the society from which they hoped to profit. Unlike Europe for their compatriots or India for Persians, for the British the path to India was not well-worn. In many places in the Indian subcontinent, British institutions grew from the wreckage of organizations created by European maritime powers. They used Portuguese scribes and soldiers, established trading bases where the Portuguese and Dutch had built theirs, and sometimes even used their language to communicate. Spending two months in Brazil on his first voyage to India, Robert Clive thought the most important thing he could do there was learn Portuguese. Like most other governors, however, he never learnt an Asian language.


Early modern England saw itself as a state which dominated the sea not the land, just like Portugal. Eighteenth-century Englishmen and women considered their empire ‘maritime, commercial and free’. The difference in India was that the English East India Company sailed around the other side of Cape Comorin at the southern tip of India.18


While the Portuguese Estado da India stayed locked into the narrow coastal strip between the Western Ghats and the sea, the East India Company tried to profit from a terrain whose rivers took it quickly deep into the interior. The English Company was concerned with making money from trade with the rice-growing hinterland, buying and selling cotton, silk and saltpetre which could be transported along inland rivers, not just spices which grew on trees near the coast. In the same way as the Portuguese, the English tried to assert their power by building forts, creating pockets of absolute control rather than negotiating with the complex structures of Mughal authority, but they adopted the attitudes and tactics from maritime dominance and, over time, used them to build an empire on land.
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TRADING WITH GHOSTS


Nawab Shaista Khan was busy at work one morning soon after the end of 1682’s monsoon season, sitting under a red velvet canopy in his grand audience hall in the city of Dhaka. One of the Emperor Alamgir’s most important officials, Shaista had been moved from western India after losing his son in a surprise defeat by the Maratha ruler Shivaji. Eighty-one years old, he had been governor of the Mughal empire’s far eastern province of Bengal for sixteen of them.


One hundred and fifty years after Babur had first marched through the Khyber Pass, the Mughal empire was at the height of its authority yet there were many challenges. Most of Shaista’s career had been spent driving Mughal power through South Asia, but a century after Bengal was conquered its power was still being challenged by smaller neighbours, from Assam to the north, and Arakan and Burma to the east. There was also the prospect of rebellion from lords closer to home. The provincial capital of Dhaka, a city then seventy years old, was surrounded by jungle. It still felt like a military camp. To survive, the empire needed to be in a constant state of movement. One moment governors were sending troops to fight, the next they were conciliating rival chiefs with promises of money and order. In his audience hall, Shaista Khan listened to information from spies and despatched instructions in response. On this day he was hearing news of defeat. An army from Assam had routed Mughal forces, compelling them to retreat 60 miles, and every one of the 600 Portuguese mercenaries fighting for Shaista Khan had fled the battlefield. The Anglo-Irish merchant sitting opposite was the least of his worries.1


After three-quarters of an hour, Shaista Khan turned to William Hedges, chief officer of the English East India Company’s operation in Bengal. Hedges had been in Bengal for two months and Dhaka for two days. He had come with the intention of acquiring a guarantee that the English East India Company could trade without having to pay customs duties on the goods it exported to Europe. At their first meeting, however, it was Shaista Khan who asked the questions. How long was the sea journey from London? Had Hedges been to Germany? Where was Spain? Where did silver came from? Most importantly of all, Shaista Khan wanted to know about other English merchants in Bengal.


After a short initial conversation the two men met again two weeks later, during which the Mughal governor continued his interrogation. His big question was about the role of private English merchants exporting goods from Bengal. The Company had a monopoly on commerce between Britain and Asia and wanted to expel independent traders from India. In the 1680s the most important of these ‘interlopers’ was Thomas Pitt. Pitt’s venture was eventually bought out by the East India Company. An incredibly able merchant, he went on to become Governor of Madras and was grandfather and great-grandfather to two British prime ministers. In 1682, however, the Company regarded him as little better than a pirate. From the Mughal empire’s perspective, the East India Company’s relationship with men like Pitt was a puzzle. The idea of a corporation banning its fellow countrymen from trading in a foreign land was odd to say the least. Shaista inquired whether it was usual for private English merchants to trade ‘in these parts’? Hedges answered with a firm no, but was quickly contradicted by a Mughal nobleman, and nothing Hedges said could persuade the court that Thomas Pitt’s conduct was wrong.2


William Hedges was treated well in Dhaka, but he demanded privileges which the Mughal empire could not grant him. Hedges wanted the Company’s right to trade without paying taxes to be guaranteed in writing, but Mughal politics stressed the importance of face-to-face negotiation rather than written contracts. He demanded that the East India Company be favoured above independent English merchants like Thomas Pitt, but such preferential treatment would have corroded the Mughal empire’s claim to be a neutral broker between different groups of its subjects. He wanted Mughal officers to treat the Company’s merchants in exactly the same way in every part of Bengal, but local Mughal administrators governed with discretion, and were not controlled from Dhaka. These were the requests of a monopolizing maritime power, not compatible with a land empire held together by balance and negotiation. Hedges and the East India Company tried to assert a form of power that subverted the way the Mughal empire worked.


In the 1680s, the English presence in India was a small and anxious one. Company officers were scattered between twelve cities along the country’s rivers and coastline, half a dozen or so in each. When it did not get its own way, this small band felt beleaguered and undermined and saw violence as the only solution to an impasse. Eventually, Hedges concluded that the Company’s position in Bengal could only be guaranteed by war, the aim of which would be conquest: not the conquest of a country, but the capture of enough land to build a fort. The Company wanted a fortified base to allow it to trade without being ‘harassed’ by Mughal demands. But war wasn’t driven by the minute calculation of financial advantage. It was a battle for status. The English felt humiliated, and saw force as the only way to restore their honour.3


Four years after William Hedges’ audience with Shaista Khan the English sent an invasion fleet. Nineteen vessels, with 200 cannon and 600 soldiers sailed from Portsmouth. A second fleet followed in 1688. The force sailed with the intention of asserting England’s power over the entire Bay of Bengal. It was instructed to attack the King of Siam (modern-day Thailand) because another group of interlopers was threatening to undermine the East India Company’s commerce there as well. Its first port of call was Dhaka. A massive armada by contemporary standards, the combined Indian invasion fleet was the largest to sail to Asia before the 1790s. Robert Clive, the man whom most historians consider to have conquered Bengal seventy years later, did not have such a large body of British ships and troops under his command.4


This, the first of three wars between the East India Company and the Mughal empire, began the long cycle of violence that ended with the British conquest of South Asia. As with later conquests, its purpose was not to capture large areas of territory. The history of empire was a history of action in the heat of the moment, not of coherent plans and ideas. The British dominance of India grew from the cumulative response of passionate and often angry men to the situation they had put themselves in in India. What marked British actions in India from 1686 onwards was their effort to create invulnerable pockets of British power, followed by the reluctance of the Company’s administrators and soldiers to negotiate. That reluctance allowed violence to grow over the next two and half centuries; without negotiation it was hard for the British to end wars. The result, by the 1850s, was that British armies had spread through every part of the Indian subcontinent. But as time went on other instruments were used to assert unchallengeable power, too: written rules, new technologies like railways, steamships or dams, bricks and mortar. All had the same purpose: to make Britain’s power in India invulnerable to challenge from the multitudinous Indian forces the British needed to deal with to do their work. Of course, each of these initiatives failed on its own terms. But the British regime was built from its response to a succession of crises, from its catastrophic defeat in the Anglo-Mughal war of 1686–90, until it was finally forced out.


Why did this violent dynamic start? How did such a strangely bellicose institution as the East India Company emerge? To answer these questions, we need to explain how William Hedges reached Dhaka and what happened when he did. But before that, we must start with the origins of the East India Company, and tell the peculiar story of the way traders from London banded together to make money in Asia. The possibility of violence and conquest was present in the history of this particular organization from the very beginning.


Dealing with spirits


Like India at the same time, early modern England was a society of little societies. The East India Company was founded in a world that had many companies and corporations. The economy of seventeenth-century England was dominated by highly social traders who grouped together to maintain order, protect honour and nurture the habits of interaction that kept commerce going. After Henry VIII’s dissolution of the monasteries, town and city corporations replaced churches at the centre of urban life. Different branches of enterprise were ruled by craft guilds, which allowed independent craftsmen to nurture the ‘mysteries’ of their trade. Even after Henry’s Tudor revolution, the central state had limited control. An array of small corporate bodies was scattered throughout England’s towns and cities. It was these organizations, not the central state, which performed most of the functions of government, keeping the peace, aiding the poor, regulating the economy and supporting commerce. Essential to this system was the free conviviality each association nurtured. As historian Philip J. Stern notes, ‘by its very nature, to “traffic” was not only to truck and barter but to engage in intercourse and exchange’. English society was a commonwealth made up of ‘little platoons’, as Edmund Burke later called them. These were institutions where men (and a handful of women) met to talk and argue, often drunkenly, bound together by common rituals. As a 1695 dictionary put it, the word ‘society’ denoted ‘company, conversation, civil intercourse, fellowship’. England’s companies were not corporations in the way we understand that word today, but social bodies dedicated to nurturing the conviviality necessary to sustain a commercial society.5


Yet there was something different about the East India Company from the start. The Company began life in exactly the kind of convivial conversations that ruled every other area of English commercial life in the seventeenth century. But discussion quickly turned to political power and violence. In the 1590s, merchants from the City of London talked especially about trading spices and cloth with Asia. Nutmeg, pepper, mace, cinnamon and cloves were popular, profitable products, but it was difficult and expensive to ship them from Asia. Black pepper is indigenous to India’s south-western coast, Kerala and southern Karnataka. Other spices came from the Molucca Islands in South East Asia. Calico, or plain unbleached cotton fabric made on India’s south-west coast, made the same journey. These goods had come through the Mediterranean to Venice, or around Africa to Lisbon, but in the late seventeenth century these routes were blocked. Venice’s connections to Asia had been by war with the Ottoman empire in the 1570s. Portugal’s route was halted by war between Spain and the Protestant powers of the north. In response, Amsterdam and London, two cities that were political allies but fierce commercial rivals, sent their own ships around the Cape of Good Hope. The Dutch fleet returned intact and quadrupled the money paid out to investors. All three ships from London were lost. The response to this crisis was the creation of a new Company with unique powers.6


Throughout 1599 and 1600, a group of London merchants petitioned Queen Elizabeth to let them create a company that could exclude rivals from trade with Asia, and then use force to defend English interests there if need be. Other trading companies existed, but they were associated with private merchants who subscribed together to share in the infrastructure needed to trade in Russia or Turkey, for example. But this new company would be more than an agglomeration of traders. From the start it was a political body with a single stock of money to hire ships, pay soldiers, build factories (as seventeenth-century merchants called their warehouses) and also to buy goods on its own account. It could even sign its own treaties with local rulers.


On the last day of the first year of the seventeenth century, ‘The Governor and Company of Merchants of London trading into the East Indies’ was created as ‘one body corporate and politick’, when the Queen issued its first charter. The first governor was Thomas Smythe, whose trading interests included America and Russia as well as India, a man who signalled his global interests by building a tomb for himself patterned with globes. The Queen gave the London Company a monopoly on trade with all parts of Asia not in the possession of ‘a Christian prince’. Its royal charter meant that when it acted it did so with the command of the English state.7


The Company’s fleet left Woolwich with five ships and 500 men in 1601, heading for the spice islands of Indonesia. By the 1630s, the Company was importing over a million pounds’ worth of pepper, and had spread to Java, India and the Middle East, even briefly operating a base in Japan. Dutch dominance of South East Asia made London’s breakthrough into the spice trade difficult, so the Company shifted to other markets, moving from Indonesia to India, starting to increase its purchase of textiles rather than spice. Madras, on the south-east coast of India, was founded as the East India Company’s first self-contained settlement in India in 1639. Bombay became a Company possession in 1668. English operations began seriously in Bengal in the late 1660s, accelerating after 1676 when a warehouse was built at Hughli, then the second port in Mughal-ruled Bengal after the city of Chittagong.


From the beginning, the Company was controversial. From its foundation, England’s political class debated whether this institution was compatible with the laws and traditions of a people proud of their liberty. Critics argued that the East India Company wielded an abstract, inhuman and unaccountable kind of power, acting like a tyrant rather than a trader. A particular moment of conflict occurred in 1683, the year after William Hedges arrived in Bengal. A private trader called Thomas Sandys sent a vessel to southern India, bought a shipload of cloth there and arrived back in the English Channel in January 1682. When his ship sailed up the Thames, East India Company officers seized it and tried to levy a fine. Instead of paying up, Sandys filed a suit in court, contesting the Company’s right to interfere. Called ‘the Great Case of Monopolies’, the dispute became one of the late seventeenth century’s most celebrated trials.


The case ended up at the Court of the King’s Bench in Westminster Hall, and lasted two years. A huge, now empty space, the oldest part of the building where the two houses of parliament dwell, in the 1680s Westminster Hall was the centre of England’s legal life, full of lawyers and litigants, spectators and witnesses, including a few willing to provide fake evidence for a fee. It was here that Guy Fawkes, Charles I and Warren Hastings were tried. The scene in 1683 was busy but ramshackle. The hall’s three royal courts were not in separate rooms but sat behind different boarded enclosures, with spectators in one court able to hear what was happening in the next. The ‘Great Case of Monopolies’ brought in a good-sized audience, as one of England’s most powerful institutions was being challenged, and some of the country’s greatest political figures argued for or against.8


Thomas Sandys was defended by Henry Pollexfen. Pollexfen was a prominent Whig politician, a man whose legal career had been built on defending the right of citizens to freely gather together in corporations to collectively manage their own affairs. He had no problem with a corporation trading with Asia. He objected to a company that could command its employees to make money on behalf of anonymous stockholders in London, and then exclude everyone else from Indian commerce when it did so. Trust and sociability were central to his argument. For commerce to be possible, there had to be a reciprocal relationship between trading parties, and each to have a personality and a soul. Pollexfen’s point was that you could only trust real, living people. ‘I do not speak against Companies, nor regulating, nor managing trade,’ he said. Regulation could be done ‘virtuously and commendably’. But it should protect individual merchants who continued to ‘trade upon their own particular stock and estates’. ‘A Man should know with whom he dealt, who were his Debtors, and how to come to them.’ From this Whig point of view, commerce was only good for society if it was rooted in the free and public conduct of individuals who had the power to govern their own lives. The Company’s anonymous, bureaucratic structure corroded the social relations that allowed trade to flourish and be mutually beneficial. Commerce with a company that traded on its own account was ‘a kind of dealing with Spirits’. Faced with such ‘an Invisible Body’, buying and selling goods from the Company was like trading with a ghost.9


Sharply at odds with the mainstreams of domestic commercial life, the East India Company’s governors needed a theory to explain why they had created such a strange institution to trade with Asia. They did so by appealing to religion, and arguing that Asia was different. In 1682, this argument was made by Heneage Finch, the lawyer employed to defend the Company in the Sandys trial. Finch was a High-Church Tory, a believer in the absolute, divinely ordained power of the state to impose its authority on people’s lives. Finch’s tactic was to concede much of Pollexfen’s argument. Thomas Sandys’ lawyers were right, he said, up to a point. Since the days of Edward I, English merchants had had the freedom to trade as they pleased, but, Finch suggested, that right was based on the trust and friendship that came from contact with people who shared the same religion. Free trade existed because Europeans had created a civil society based on their common Christianity, he said. Non-Christians did not share the same civil laws and moral codes, so had to be treated as enemies. In India, the English were in a continual state of war, so trade in Asia needed to be specially regulated by the state, and protected by a corporation with despotic powers. Finch noted that the medieval law that Pollexfen used to defend free trade only gave Englishmen the freedom to trade with other Christians. Edward I had also expelled the Jews. If Jews were enemies, India’s Hindus and Muslims were so even more.10


Thomas Sandys’ supporters considered this chain of reasoning ridiculous, one calling it ‘absurd, monkish, fantastical and fanatical’. The free merchants’ point was that peace was possible with infidels. It was perfectly safe for private traders like Thomas Sandys and Thomas Pitt to trade in India. Asian governors like Shaista Khan were good business partners, as long as merchants were willing to negotiate and then submit themselves to Mughal authority.11


With its control of the vast bulk of trade with Asia, the Company managed to persuade large sections of London’s elite that their claims were valid. Most importantly, England’s new King, James II, became a strong supporter of the Company’s rights. James’ short-lived tenure on the thrones of England and Scotland was based on the divine right of kings, so the Company’s use of arguments that strengthened monarchical authority helped sway their case. A gift of £10,000 a year from the Company’s profits was persuasive as well. The connection was so close that the East India Company came to be seen as more than an organization of merchants with government sponsorship, but the agent of English royal power in Asia. The document which despatched English soldiers to fight the Mughal empire was signed by King James II.12


The East India Company’s use of these absolutist arguments was, from one point of view, very surprising. Before James II came to the throne in 1685, the Company had been associated with a low-church, Whiggish kind of politics sceptical of claims about the sanctity of sovereign power. Josiah Child, a former beer supplier to the navy at Portsmouth, was the Company’s leading director in these years. Child had been part of a network of dissenting traders whom James tried to exclude from government contracts before he became king. Child, certainly, was ideologically supple in the interests of profit. Men with ancestral wealth criticized the speed with which he accumulated a fortune, the diarist John Evelyn lambasting the splendour of his country estate in Epping Forest as the kind of place where the ‘suddenly monied for the most part seat themselves’. Yet behind the twists and turns in their alliances and arguments, the men who led the East India Company were consistently committed to the development of an organization which offered the prospect of absolute and stable control from England over commerce with Asia. Throughout Child’s writings one finds a steady concern about ensuring that prices were stable, interest rates were low and the constant stream of commodities from the subcontinent routine. Most important was the exclusion of rival private traders, whom Child thought might be in league with hostile powers to obstruct the regularity of Company trade. Child’s ideal form of government was one which imposed the mechanical regularities of maritime commerce, with their seasons, their licences, passes and shipping timetables, upon the political life of the land. Under James II, it seemed that absolute monarchy offered the most suitable form of authority to support the Company’s claim to control English capitalism in Asia.13


Interlopers


William Hedges left for Bengal only a few weeks before Child instigated proceedings against the ‘interloper’ Thomas Sandys. Born in Co. Cork in Ireland to a family of merchants, he started his career trading with the Ottoman empire. Like other Company traders, he had interests in different places, with a stake in the Royal African Company’s slave trade as well as Turkey, the Levant and India. In his mid-thirties, he was the Levant Company’s treasurer in Constantinople. In his forties, in the late 1670s, Hedges was living in one of the streets behind London’s Guildhall, part of a community of merchants with Dutch and dissenting Protestant connections. Hedges’ first wife Susannah was sister-in-law of Jeremy Sambrooke, the leader of a radical dissenting faction in the East India Company. It was through this network that Hedges quickly worked his way up the East India Company’s hierarchy. His knowledge of Asia, albeit a different part of the continent, led to his appointment as the Company’s chief in Bengal in September 1681.14


Hedges’ task was particularly to suppress the trade of interlopers. He was sent to Bengal to replace Mathew Vincent, the previous chief of the Company’s operations in ‘the Bay’, whose many crimes included trading with private merchants. Hedges’ ship, the Defence, was shipping a small detachment of soldiers to imprison Vincent and seize other interlopers if need be. But from the beginning of his voyage, Hedges came across private merchants trading in defiance of the Company about whom he could do nothing. In January 1682, while waiting off the coast of Kent for his final instructions, he saw Thomas Sandys’ Expectation shortly before it was seized by Company officers. Once he was on his way, Hedges spotted Thomas Pitt a few hundred miles off the coast of Brazil. They saluted each other and went their separate ways. When he landed at Baleswar on the coast in Orissa in July 1682, Hedges found that Pitt had been there for two weeks, had bought a house and was quickly buying up goods. Pitt was telling everyone the old East India Company had collapsed and ‘a new Company erected’, and marched through town with red-coated soldiers, music and flags to prove his point. Hedges protested, but to no avail.15


Hedges then sailed on to Hughli, where he took up his position as chief of the Company’s presence in Bengal. Thirty miles upriver on one of the Ganges’ tributaries from the spot of swampy ground where the city of Kolkata now lies, Hughli was one of India’s busiest ports, in Bengal second only to the port of Chittagong on the province’s eastern coast. It was a Mughal city of perhaps 100,000 people, home to thousands of merchants from across India, the Middle East and East Asia, as well as factories belonging to all the European trading powers. With its five English officers, the East India Company’s factory was the centre of a network of English outposts scattered throughout the rivers of eastern India, the place where goods from a variety of suppliers were stockpiled before being shipped to London. Saltpetre and rough cotton came from Patna, in Bihar. Silk came from Malda and Kasimbazar. Finely woven muslin came from Dhaka. All these commodities were put on to rowing boats and sent downriver to Hughli. Until the 1690s, the uncharted shoals and mud-banks of Bengal’s delta meant ships’ captains dared not sail into the Ganges’ estuaries. Goods were stored and repacked at Hughli to be shipped and loaded again onto ocean-going vessels at Baleswar, 200 miles south. At each of these places, the Company’s profits depended on a capacity to engage with Indian merchants and manufacturers, and then to develop a productive relationship with Indian political power. Such commercial relationships could be tense and difficult, and it was precisely these that Thomas Pitt, as well as the Dutch, Danish and French East India Companies, was trying to undermine.


The Company’s way of doing business was as controversial in India as it had been in England. Company traders were usually more aggressive and less conciliatory than Indian merchants. For example, in the years before Hedges arrived, a group of Company merchants at the silk-producing centre of Kasimbazar had tried to reduce the prices they paid to weavers. Workers protested against the factory chief Job Charnock’s ‘unjust and unworthy’ dealings with them, refused to work and appealed to the town’s Muslim judge. Putting Mughal ideas of justice into practice, the kazi called the parties together to negotiate a compromise. Charnock refused to attend, so the dispute ended up being dealt with by the provincial governor, Shaista Khan. Once it reached Dhaka, a Company officer represented Charnock’s point of view to the Nawab, but Shaista Khan threw the English official out of his court, saying ‘the English were a company of base, quarrelling people and foul dealers’. Eventually, Job Charnock had no choice but to agree to the arbitration of a group of local traders.16


Soon after his arrival at Hughli, William Hedges’ relationship with Mughal officers became fractious and difficult. The city’s chief administrator was Parameshwar Das, a member of the Hindu Kayashta community that for generations had supplied India’s Mughal empire with bureaucrats. He, too, saw his task as ensuring a balance between Hughli’s different interests, and that meant not favouring the East India Company in its conflict with private English traders. Parameshwar seems to have been well disposed to Thomas Pitt and his ‘interloping’ colleagues because they were more willing to support the Mughal regime than the Company. Pitt offered to pay 3 per cent customs duty to facilitate the flow of goods, while the Company insisted it had the right to pay nothing at all. The result was that consignments of Company goods were stopped and searched, shipments held back and taxes demanded.


Such ‘harassment’ did not make a big difference to the Company’s profits. In fact, the late 1670s and early 1680s were good years for the Company’s exports from Hughli. In these years, Bengal supplanted other East India Company centres as the main source of Asian goods sold in London for the first time. But Hedges and his colleagues had no way of calculating the Company’s corporate profitability as a whole; their frustration and anger got the better of their capacity to judge the interests of the organization they worked for. A tiny group in a foreign city, they felt the Hughli administration’s actions on a personal, visceral scale. Hedges insisted that the ‘affronts, insolencies [sic] and abuses’ inflicted on the Company were unbearable. Again and again Parameshwar Das invited Hedges to the negotiating table, but the English continually fled, frightened they would be ambushed at a meeting.17


It took a group of Indian merchants trading with the East India Company to get the two sides together. In October 1682, the Mughals and the English met on the waterfront at Hughli to try to negotiate a settlement. Parameshwar and Hedges strolled hand in hand, talking openly. Their meeting was intended to make public their desire to be friends, but also to demonstrate their ability to blow each other to pieces if need be. Parameshwar assured Hedges of his ‘respect and friendship’, but he was ‘guarded by Peons and Servants, and I [Hedges] by the soldiers and Peons of the Factory, with most of the Englishmen in town’.


The meeting was an encounter between two men in very different moods. Parameshwar had time on his hands. He wanted Hedges and the English to submit to his authority, to be a source of profit for the Mughal empire and to enrich himself if at all possible. He could only maintain good relations if Hedges remained in town to negotiate. The chief officer, on the other hand, was impatient. His instructions from London were to make sure goods were sent back on time. He worried that Mughal officials would hold the shipments back, and force vessels lying at anchor in the Bay of Bengal to wait before being loaded with cotton, silk and spices. He was further anxious that interference by Mughal officials would cause the Company to lose the race to get products to the market in Europe, and thus lose money. He did not believe that a conversation on Hughli’s waterfront solved anything, so he decided to force his way to Dhaka to see Shaista Khan, the governor. The night after he had met Parameshwar, Hedges slipped out in the darkness, taking to the river in two heavily armed boats with ‘two stout fellows’, an Englishman and Spaniard, in charge of each. An armed Mughal customs boat tried to attack two hours after nightfall, but the Spanish mercenary fired his musket and ‘we saw them no more’, Hedges said. After rowing for ten days through ‘the most pleasant country I have seen in my life’, Hedges arrived in Dhaka.18


The encounter on the waterfront was a clash between two different styles of government and two different forms of power. The East India Company was not interested in creating authority or building an empire. In the 1680s, it was only concerned with making money, and this it was doing. But it was exclusive and belligerent, obsessed with its rights and desperate to control everything that threatened its success and survival. It wanted its position to be fixed and immutable, not vulnerable to the vicissitudes of local politics. By contrast Parameshwar Das and Shaista Khan were officers of an empire that ruled by negotiation and the flexible incorporation of potentially rival forces. The Mughal empire insisted its emperor and officials be recognized as supreme and was willing to fight those, like the Marathas in the 1660s, the Assamese in 1682 or the East India Company three years later, who threatened to deny their supremacy. But it sustained its authority by acknowledging the autonomy of different interests and nationalities, and that could include the English. Force was an important part of Mughal statecraft, but it was usually followed by some kind of attempt to negotiate as deals were struck between political leaders who had previously been rebellious or antagonistic.


Villainous tricks


The East India Company’s strange tactics meant that Shaista Khan’s court was divided in its opinion as to how to treat the English emissaries. Hedges’ visit to Dhaka brought the debate to a head. Shaista Khan himself was all for being lenient towards this strange and argumentative organization. Global trade boomed during the 1670s, with a 30 per cent increase in ships returning from Asia to Europe compared to the previous decade. Shaista himself had benefited from European commerce, trading horses with western Asia in partnership with English merchants, for example. The governor felt there was room within the open structures of the Mughal polity to accommodate the Company’s demands, but officers on the tax-collecting side of the Bengal administration saw the Company as an organization of tax avoiders trying to flout Mughal power rather than a source of wealth. In the 1680s, money was required to pay for the Mughal wars in Bengal and in the south of India. The Mughal empire’s chief revenue officer in Bengal insisted the Company contribute by paying the fixed rate of 3 per cent customs duty. When Hedges suggested the Company would leave if the tax demand persisted, the Diwan answered simply that ‘they might go if they pleased’. As ever, Shaista Khan tried to broker a compromise, but all he could do was write to the Emperor Alamgir asking if he would grant the Company a firman (or order) giving it the permanent right to tax-free trade, and then giving the Company an eight-month period of remission while they waited for a response from Delhi. The firman never arrived.19


It was their need to negotiate continually with Mughal officers at Hughli, not the 3 per cent tax rate, which caused the English so much anxiety. Hedges’ visit to Dhaka did not end the ‘harassment’. While the English chief was away his junior officers were arrested, and were in ‘so great fear the Ships would not go away this year’ that they paid 4000 rupees ‘to let our goods pass to and fro without molestation’. When he got back to Hughli, Hedges complained that Parameshwar, as he put it, ‘began to play his villainous tricks with us again’. With support from elements within the Mughal regime, Thomas Pitt managed to leave Bengal in the early autumn with ships stuffed with goods to sell in England. He reached England in February 1683 where the profits from his trade enabled him to buy a manor in Wiltshire, and then the parliamentary seat of Salisbury. By contrast, the Company’s ships had sailed late in January in 1680 and 1681, and without a full cargo in 1682. Hedges did not manage any better in 1683 but he harried and cajoled, coming down to Baleswar to try to speed the Defence (the same ship in which he had sailed to Bengal) and two other vessels on their way. They left at the beginning of February, too late to get the best prices in Europe for the load of silk, cotton and saltpetre they carried.20


William Hedges’ mission in Bengal had been a failure. He had not successfully established a monopoly for the East India Company over England’s trade with Asia; the interlopers were still trading; he had gained no lasting concessions from the Mughal empire. Soon enough, orders came from London for him to be sacked, to be replaced by William Gyfford, a senior official based at Madras. Hedges became a renegade. Going into hiding in the Dutch East India Company’s factory at Hughli, he then escaped back to England via a long overland route through Persia, Syria and the Mediterranean in order to avoid the Company’s ships. He landed at Dover early in the morning of 4 April 1687, four years after the return of his nemesis Thomas Pitt, with no job or family but considerably more wealth than he started with. Hedges’ wife and children had died during his travels (there is no reference as to when or how in his writings), but he returned with bales of cotton and silk to sell in London and the last pages of the diary he had maintained in order to justify his actions to his peers in London. That diary would play a part in turning the mood in London towards war.


The idea that the East India Company should conquer land in India did not begin in England. It started among officers in Bengal itself, frustrated about their fractious relationship with Mughal authorities. Hedges thought that the oscillation between ‘friendship’ and ‘insult’, the toing and froing between officials like Parameshwar Das and Shaista Khan, could not be sustained. The first half of Hedges’ diary had been sent to London in January 1784, and contained a firm message that the Company needed a strong, defensible fort if it was to trade in Bengal. The Company needed to ‘resolve to quarrel with these people’, Hedges wrote. Despite squabbling among themselves, this was becoming the consensual view. William Gyfford, Hedges’ replacement in Bengal, argued that ‘the trade of this place could never be carried on, and managed to the Company’s advantage, till [the Company] fell out with the Government, and could oblige them to grant better terms: which he thought very feasible’. The Company needed to achieve some kind of permanent, tax-free security. ‘No good was to be done with these people without compulsion.’21


The notion of war was the response of merchants in Asia to pressures imposed from London. Initially, the Court of Directors was unwilling to follow through the implications of its rigid demands. Josiah Child and his colleagues in London were doubtful to begin with about the conquest plan, worrying that war would cost too much, and that it would antagonize their Dutch rivals. Some thought a strong base at the newly acquired port at Bombay would be a far better ‘check’ on the Mughals. No one doubted the Company needed to stand up to what they saw as humiliation by the Mughals. ‘We are positively resolved’, the Court said, ‘to assert our right due to us. . . . We shall never submit peaceably to the Custom demanded of us.’ But instead of an invasion, London initially suggested that the Company make a scene, landing a band of foot soldiers ‘with officers, drums, and colours’ before marching to Dhaka to demand redress.


The anxious flow of messages between India and London in the second half of 1684 and 1685 changed the minds of the Company’s London governors. Men debating in the Company’s courts and councils started to panic, thinking the Dutch and interlopers were annihilating the East India Company’s share of India’s trade. They imagined that Shaista Khan ‘took advantage of the unnaturall division betwixt the English themselves to oppress us all’. Talk was of frustration, dishonour and the increasing need to act quickly before things suddenly got worse. Increasingly war was proposed as a way to overcome the ‘misery and thralldom’ in which the English in Bengal were imagined to live. The Company asked its captains and officers what they thought and found that they:




all do Concur in this Opinion (and to us seeming impregnant truth) viz/t that since this Gov[ernmen]t have by that unfortunate accident, and audacity of the Interlopers, got the knack of trampling upon us, and extorting what they please of our estates from us by the besieging of our factories, and stopped our Boates upon the Ganges, they will never forbear doing so, till we have made them as sensible of our Power




‘[T]here must’, the Court of Directors wrote, ‘be some hostility used to set our privileges right again.’ The target was the city of Chittagong, a place where there had long been a big Portuguese presence, and the only port the English believed could be defended from Mughal attack. The trouble was the Company in London had not the faintest idea where Chittagong was. The port directly opens onto the Bay of Bengal, but the Court of Directors worried whether a conquest fleet could ‘get up the great Ganges as high as [Chittagong] without the aid of our pilots’.22


The ‘quarrel’ started in earnest when nineteen warships were hired in London in January 1686 and sent with six companies of soldiers. The first soldiers sent from England landed at Hughli, not Chittagong. Mughal troops were sent to the city in response. By then Job Charnock had taken over as chief of the Company’s operations in Bengal, and complained that the Nawab ‘ordered downe for the guard of this towne two or three hundred horses and three or four thousand Foot’. With Mughal troops flooding into Hughli tensions rose. War began in the middle of October as the result of an ‘unhappy accident’, when a fight broke out between three English soldiers and a larger group of Mughal sepoys in the bazaar and sparked a conflict between already edgy troops. Mughal forces burnt the East India Company’s factory. The English tried to attack Hughli from the river. Their ships captured ‘a Greate Mogull’s ship, and kept firing and battering for most of the night and the next day’. Charnock described these acts of ‘conquest’ as a ‘great victory’, but the English had left 14,000 bags of saltpetre onshore. Commodities mattered more than revenge against the Mughals, so the Nawab’s offer of peace was accepted. Writing home, Charnock’s greatest concern was that the Dutch had managed to use the disturbance ‘to make their markets’ in time.23


Charnock then ordered English forces to Sutanati, a village forty-nine miles downriver from Hughli on the spot where the city of Kolkata now lies. He wanted to retreat to an isolated base distant from the Mughal army to load the ships and negotiate a treaty, while the Company had force at their disposal. The Company in London was not happy with this kind of ‘timid’ conduct. The Court of Directors wanted to stick to its guns, and ‘undauntedly pursue the war against the Mogull until they’d conquered a fortified settlement’. Charnock was criticized for putting the Company’s financial interests before the honour of its institutions and the country: the Company was very clear that honour came before profit. ‘We know’, they wrote to Charnock,




your interest leads you to returne as soon as you can to your Trades and getting of Money, and so, it may, our interest prompts us; but when the honour of our King and Country is at Stake we scorn more petty considerations and so should you.




Wishing Charnock ‘were as good as soldier as he is . . . a very honest merchant’, the English King and Company sent a new force of fifteen ships.


Captain Heath, the commander who had first brought William Hedges to Bengal, was sent back to lead the fight against the Mughals from his ship the Defence. But Heath fared no better than Charnock. He sent Shaista Khan a series of threatening letters, to which Shaista responded by arresting the small English contingent in Dhaka and keeping them in chains in the city’s red fort from March 1688. There they complained about being kept in ‘insufferable and tattered conditions’, imprisoned ‘like thiefs and murders’ until the end of June. Heath then bombarded the city of Baleswar, ‘committing various outrages against friends as well as enemies’ as Job Charnock put it. He then sailed to Chittagong, but found the city too heavily defended for his force to capture. The port’s Mughal governor sent a message asking the Company to stay and talk, believing that the Company’s ships might be useful for ferrying their own soldiers to fight the neighbouring state of Arakan, if terms with the English could be agreed. As usual, Indians wanted to prolong negotiation, but the English were impatient, concerned as ever about their markets. Heath fled back to Madras, arriving on 4 March 1689. With his retreat, England’s first war with a state in India came to an end.24


As well on this Side of India as the other


While Captain Heath’s fleet was shambolically cruising around the Bay of Bengal, a similar series of political breakdowns led to an outbreak of war on India’s west coast. The centre of conflict was the island of Bombay, still populated by Portuguese priests, Marathi toddy-tappers, merchants and mercenaries from many nations. Bombay had been English ever since the marriage of Catherine of Braganza to Charles II in 1661, and was the concern of the Company since Charles offloaded it on them in 1668. It did not become a major centre for the Company’s operations until the late 1680s. As in Bengal, English commerce in western India began in a Mughal port, in this case Surat, the entrepôt of the Mughal empire. As also in Bengal, expanding trade led to fractious relations with the Mughals and caused Company officers to assert their power more decisively and to try to separate themselves from Indian society behind gun embankments and fortified walls. In Bombay (unlike Bengal) they got as far as retreating behind the bastions of such a fort, but they didn’t survive there for long.


In theory, the English were sovereign over the island of Bombay in a way that they were sovereign over nowhere in Bengal. In practice, such sovereignty meant little as the island was enmeshed in a tight network of western Indian trade and politics, in which the Company played only a small part. The East India Company had no choice but to let Mughal and Maratha sailors and soldiers treat the island as their home.


In the 1680s ships belonging to Sidi Kasim wintered at Bombay. Sidi Kasim was a seafaring Ethiopian chieftain whose maritime force effectively acted as the Mughal navy. Tension between the Sidi’s soldiers and the English led to violence. In May 1683, an English soldier was killed in a fight with Ethiopian sailors in the bazaar. Soon, after an English officer was thrown off one of the Sidi’s ships when he tried to procure a slave girl for sex in a drunken late-night encounter. Sir John Child, the Company’s governor (no relation to Sir Josiah), refused to seek revenge, arguing that any critical response would be ‘like a tolling bell for us all’. A group of soldiers decided to take matters into their own hands, staging a coup in order to more effectively assert their ‘honour’ against Mughal power. Their rebellion did not last long, however, talking and drinking itself out of steam over a few months. But the rebels did evict Sidi Kasim’s Mughal fleet from Bombay harbour and seriously corroded the relationship between the English and the Mughals in western India.25


There had been ‘murmuring and complaint’ as the customs on the Company’s goods was raised from 2 to 31/2 per cent in the Mughal port of Surat. As in Bengal, company officers complained about Mughal ‘harassment’. Relations broke down so badly that, according to an English chaplain, customs were demanded on the gold buttons ‘which the chief Factors wore upon their Cloaths’ so ‘in a short time the very Intrinsick Value of his Gold Buttons would be spent in Custom’. The English castigated the Mughals for siding with interlopers, and ended up issuing a list of thirty-five grievances to the Mughal Governor of Surat. Once war started in Bengal, Sir John Child switched from pusillanimity to violence. ‘It will’, he said, ‘become us to Seize what we cann & draw the English sword, as well on this Side of India as the other.’ The aim in the west was the same as in the east, to ‘gaine a New Settlement’. Child captured a few small Mughal ships carrying provisions for Sidi Kasim’s fleet on his way back from Surat and he wrote to the Sidi saying, ‘should he dare to come with forces to Bombay, he would blow him off again with the wind of his bum’. The Sidi then demanded the return of his ships; if they were not returned he would occupy Bombay three days later. When they were not, he did just that.26


As in Bengal, in Bombay English hubris vastly outweighed its military capability. ‘Buoyed with a strong opinion of their own Valour, and of the Indian’s Pusillanimity’, as one observer put it, the English in Bombay were rapidly overwhelmed by Sidi Kasim’s troops. Company officers imagined that a show of English power would cause Indian soldiers to flee. In fact, it was the Company’s troops who deserted, as 116 fled from the tiny English contingent, and officers ran so quickly they left behind ten chests of treasure and four of arms for the Mughals. ‘On the Siddy’s comeing on this your Island, the whole Inhabitants left us, hardly one struck a stroke in the defence of the Island,’ Child wrote. The governor suggested the English were fighting alone, but the reality was very different. A militia of Koli fishermen was formed by the Parsi merchant Rustom Dorabji. The defence of Bombay depended particularly on Bhandaris, Marathas who made money by distilling alcohol but who had been driven out of Bombay by an increase in tax. Another group whom the British called ‘Sevajees’, possibly after Shivaji, also offered support. These various communities were part of the complex network of alliances that made up the Maratha polity. Conceivably, their loyalty to the Marathas led them to be hostile to Bombay’s Mughal attackers.27


The Anglo-Maratha forces, no more than 2,500, were massively outnumbered by Sidi Kasim’s invasion army of 20,000. In February 1689, the same month Heath was driven from Chittagong, the Sidi pushed the English into Bombay castle, using ‘men enough to have eaten up all the Company’s servants for breakfast’. They were besieged there for a year. Eventually, as supplies ran out and desertion made defence unsustainable, the Company had no choice but to sue for a humiliating peace.28


War was a financial disaster for the East India Company, weakening its position with its competitors. In 1689 eleven Dutch ships returned to Amsterdam stuffed with goods, but ‘we have but one ship come, and that not rich laden’ as one newswriter put it. Another thought ‘most men conclude that the East India trade is all lost’. Tiny shipments came from Bengal between 1688 and 1696. Exports from Bombay dropped to a quarter of their value in the early 1680s, and did not recover until the last years of the 1690s. There was a rapid decline in the Company’s stock price. With reports of English officers and troops being paraded in chains in the streets of Dhaka and Surat, of Company representatives kneeling and begging for mercy from the Emperor Alamgir with their hands tied behind their backs, it began to sink in that this was a moment of English humiliation as well as commercial loss. The East India Company’s first attempt to challenge the Mughal empire had ended in catastrophic disaster.29


In London, defeat in the first Anglo-Mughal war brought about the end of the Company’s privileges. The Company’s crisis coincided with the Glorious Revolution. In November 1688, William of Orange, the Dutch head of state, invaded England with the support of Protestant nobles and merchants opposed to King James’ Catholicism and absolutism. Since Sir Josiah Child had stitched up James’ backing for the East India Company, William’s supporters included many fierce rivals of its corporate power, including many interlopers. Once William had taken the throne alongside his wife, Mary, their first response was to deregulate English commerce with India, passing an Act of Parliament that allowed free access to Asian trade in 1694. Next, in 1698, they created a new rival organization, ‘the English Company trading to the East Indies’ backed by King William and his supporters in Parliament.30


The first decade of the eighteenth century was a period of squabbling and financial catastrophe, as rival groups of English traders in India competed for trade and favours from the Mughal empire. But despite a dramatically different political scenario, too many people had an interest in the existence of a single monopolistic company trading with Asia. Queen Anne’s accession to the throne in 1702 brought with it an attempt to revive some of the institutions of Jacobean authority and create a more centralized form of power. One consequence was the union of the separate crowns and parliament of England and Scotland, creating the Kingdom of Great Britain. Another was the merger of England’s rival East India Companies and the return of a single organization with a monopoly on trade with Asia. These efforts to create unity allowed the Company’s revival, but the humiliation of defeat by the Mughal empire created twenty years of crisis and instability in Britain’s relationship with India.


The Company only survived in Britain because it had become an inextricable part of the economic lives of the country’s political elite. It only survived in India because the Mughals thought it could benefit them, too. After 1690, the Company was the beneficiary of the classic Mughal tactic of offering friendship only once a rival had been defeated. For Alamgir and his ministers, the English were no different from any other group within the Mughal polity’s patchwork of communities. They could prosper, Mughal officers argued, as long as they submitted to the authority of the emperor and did not too dramatically undermine the balance of power within the places they resided.


In Bengal, Shaista Khan returned to Delhi and was replaced by a new Nawab. Ibrahim Khan had been Governor of Patna, where he had been an ‘old friend to [the Company’s] affairs, and particularly known to the agent Charnock’. When he learnt that the East India Company had ‘repent of their irregular proceedings’ and submitted to Alamgir’s authority, Ibrahim Khan wrote to the English asking them to return. Job Charnock came back to Bengal in 1690 to create a new settlement. Ibrahim Khan offered the Company a site two miles south of Hughli in order to keep the English close at hand. But, rather than choosing a settlement so close to a centre of Mughal authority, Charnock returned to the tract of land further south where he had first fled after the attack four years earlier. As usual, the English story about settlement was one which left out its Indian origins. Company officers in Madras complained that Charnock had settled in an empty swamp. His plan was ‘contrary to all reason, or consent of the [Mughal] Government, who will neither permit building or factory’. In fact, the Company landed at a cluster of villages that was home to merchants, weavers and an important Kali temple. The name Sutanati, one of the villages, means cotton bale. It was a place where a group of five merchant families had created a market for selling textiles on a piece of land raised three or four metres above the river, with Portuguese traders just across the water.31


Charnock’s decision was based on ‘his feares of being seiz’d by some of the Government [of Bengal]’. His first step was to negotiate a deal with the Portuguese merchants to hire a frigate to defend the settlement. Like Captain Heath and the Court of Directors, Charnock believed the Company’s commerce could only thrive if the English had a fortified base that it could defend against Mughal attack. Unlike them, however, Charnock’s strategy was to conquer by stealth rather than open fighting. His aim was to create a settlement away from the centre of Mughal politics, avoiding messy entanglement with the Nawab. Building a fort at Sutanati was one of the first British attempts to create power by evading the negotiations that everyday Indian politics required.


To begin with, life in this new settlement was bleak for the English. The Nawab banned them from building in brick, so they lived in a ‘wild unsettled condition’, with only ‘tents, huts and boats’ and a retinue of soldiers. The traveller Alexander Hamilton worried that ‘he could not have chosen a more unhealthful place on all the River’. In August 1691, there were said to be 1,000 residents, but Hamilton counted 460 burials listed in the clerk’s book of mortality by the following January. One of those who succumbed was Job Charnock.32


The new settlement was only able to grow because the new Nawab of Bengal’s troubles had started to multiply, and he needed the East India Company as an ally. The 1690s was a decade of war for the Mughal empire in Bengal once again. A rebellion of local landholders took advantage of the Mughal regime’s concentration on war in the Deccan to take control of large swathes of the province’s land, and by 1696 the rebels controlled half the province. Ibrahmin Khan saw an English fort in a peripheral part of the province as a cheap way of maintaining Mughal power. Chastened by their defeat, the East India Company would protect the interests of Mughal officers and merchants as well as English traders. In 1698 the governor even coerced local landholders to sell them land, in the process giving the East India Company a small income to pay the local cost of their new establishment.33


A town grew around the new fort, amid the trading villages of Sutanati, Govindpur and Dahi-Kolkata, sustained by rent paid by local farmers and the income from trade up and down the Hughli river. This town grew into a city during the eighteenth century: it became Calcutta, India’s largest metropolis and the second city of the British empire until the early twentieth century. The city can trace many different points of origin, its expansion over two centuries fuelled by the movement of people and money from many different places – Portuguese seafarers, Bengali traders from upriver, Marwari merchants, Bihari labourers, Chinese opium sellers and cooks, a famous Albanian nun and, most recently, computer programmers and call centre workers from Hindi-speaking northern India. Until recently, Job Charnock, whose tomb still stands in Park Street Cemetery, was celebrated as the city’s founder. The association with this empire builder allowed the English to imagine that this was ‘a European city set down upon Asiatic soil’, ‘a monument to the energy and achievement of our race’, as Lord Curzon put it. Rudyard Kipling was more down to earth: ‘Power on silt’, he called it. In the last few years, patriotic Bengalis have challenged such hubris. In the twenty-first century descendants of the landholders who sold their villages to the East India Company in 1698 appealed to the High Court for school history books to be changed. After setting up a commission of scholars, the court declared that a settlement existed before Job Charnock landed on 24 August 1690. The city ‘does not have a “birthday” ’, the court rightly pronounced.


Mughal chroniclers, however, told another more interesting story, that is at least as true as the blustering British narratives. According to them, the East India Company’s house at Hughli was washed away in a flood. Job Charnock started to build a new dwelling two or three storeys high, ‘so high that they may spy into our homes and look upon our wives and daughters’. The governor banned masons and carpenters from working on the building, and Charnock ‘prepared to fight’. The English set fire to some houses. Hughli’s Mughal governor tried to keep them there so they could be held to account, but Charnock and his band of men fled by ship to the Deccan where the Mughals were fighting. There, so the story goes, Charnock met Emperor Alamgir and offered to help the Mughal army in their wars in the south of India. Charnock’s ships carried food to supply the Mughal military (just as we know Captain Heath was asked to do by Shaista Khan) and in some versions of the story led an army which helped defeat the Mughals’ enemies.


The English feature first in this story as pirates and insurgents, as a community in rebellion against Mughal peace. But always believing enemies could become friends, the Mughals brought the English back into the fold once they had changed their ways. Having ‘rendered loyal and good service’ by feeding and fighting, showing that the English could be useful allies if they submitted to Mughal power, Job Charnock was given permission to trade in Bengal, to build a fort and thence found the great city of Calcutta.34
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FORGOTTEN WARS


The capture of Katherine Cooke was an event which was closely entangled with the emergence of a new political order in India. Her father, Thomas, was an army captain and military engineer involved in the building of Fort William at Calcutta, one of hundreds of lower-middle-class European men who made a living as functionaries of the East India Company’s enterprise. By 1709 he was struggling financially. Returning to Bengal from England, Thomas Cooke’s ship stopped at Karwar, a port 200 miles south of Bombay. There, he gave his daughter’s hand in marriage to the chief of the English settlement in return for a sum of money.


John Harvey was old and crippled but he was rich, with assets scattered across the Company’s possessions in western India. Katherine, reputedly ‘a most beautiful lady, not exceeding thirteen or fourteen years of age’, spent the early months of their marriage helping her husband sort out his accounts and consolidate his wealth, in preparation for their return to Britain. Harvey died within a year, and Katherine soon married an attractive but penniless young officer by the name of Chown who had just arrived at Karwar. After a couple of years together the pair set off for Bombay to claim the money left to Katherine by the late John Harvey. Sailing to the seat of the Company’s power in western India in November 1712, Katherine’s ketch was attacked by a fleet of ships commanded by Kanhoji Angre, leader of the Maratha regime’s sea force and one of the most powerful figures in western Indian politics. Katherine’s new husband had an arm blown off by a cannonball and bled to death on deck in her arms. It was not the first time Katherine was widowed in India and nor would it be the last. She was taken prisoner and held at the Maratha fort of Kolaba for four months. Her release was surprisingly rapid, because her captor had a part to play in creating eighteenth-century India’s greatest political power.1


In Katherine Cooke’s life we can see many of the forces that shaped the British presence in India during the early eighteenth century. Her military engineer father practised a profession in great demand during the years after the Anglo-Mughal war, as the East India Company tried to defend itself with gun embankments and thick walls designed to protect Britons from the very society they made money from. Katherine’s money came from John Harvey’s trade in cotton with India’s arid Deccan interior, a market which expanded quickly during the growing commercial prosperity of the early eighteenth century. Most importantly, the East India Company had to deal with a new kind of Indian power, with a series of regimes concerned more closely with the management of land, commerce and violence than the Mughal empire. These were decades when the Company’s room for manoeuvre was closely circumscribed by Indian politics. Tension was all but continuous. In Bengal and in the south, around Calcutta and Madras, minor incidences of violence did not escalate into conflict, but on India’s western seaboard the Company was involved in a succession of now long-forgotten wars.


The main Indian protagonist in those wars was Kanhoji Angre. The English considered him a pirate, in doing so castigating him as a force of illegitimate violence and chaos in contrast to the disciplined regularity they claimed to represent. The use of the word pirate was part of the East India Company’s rhetoric in Britain; Britons were more likely to support retaliation against piracy than a war against a regular, legitimate state. In fact, Angre saw himself as a loyal servant of a legal power, an administrator imposing the authority of the Maratha state over sea lanes that were rightly his to control. Mrs Chown’s vessel was attacked because it did not have the correct paperwork.2


Kanhoji thought the Company’s insolence merited a violent rebuke, but he released Katherine quickly and with very little ransom demanded because a far more important visitor was on his way. For the past six years the Maratha regime had been fighting a civil war. Every force of significance in Maratha lands had been divided between two leaders who differed in the attitude they took to the Mughal empire. Tarabai, the widow of one of Shivaji’s sons, had rebuilt the Maratha state after it was crushed by Mughal armies in the 1690s and 1700s, and was opposed to any submission to the empire. Her rival and nephew, Shahu, was the child of another of Shivaji’s sons and favoured cooperation with the Mughal regime. Shahu had been captured by the Emperor Alamgir as a child, and grew up in luxurious imprisonment at the Mughal court. When Alamgir died in 1707, leading Mughal courtiers released Shahu with a force of fifty men, giving him rights to land revenue throughout western, central and southern India which Maratha leaders had long demanded. With the empire wracked by conflict over the succession to the 88-year-old emperor, Mughal officials thought that a friendly Maratha leader, better able to tax local lords and gather an army than their own officers, would be a useful ally.3


Over the next few years, Shahu defeated his aunt and established the basis for a stable Maratha regime that would endure for the next half-century as the undivided centre of political power in western India. Shahu’s administration was based on a new kind of politics. Instead of building alliances with old, potentially fickle Maratha warlords, Shahu’s regime centralized the control of resources. It depended particularly on a new class of administrators, mainly Brahmins, who combined their ability to lead troops in battle with skills in management and accountancy and a closer connection to commerce and banking.


The most important bureaucrat in Shahu’s regime was Balaji Vishwanath, a member of the low-ranking coastal Chitpavan Brahmin community who started his career as a clerk in the salt works of Sidi Kasim at Janjira but became chief administrator of the city of Pune around 1700. Balaji decided to back Shahu early in the Maratha civil war. Along with the accounting aptitude learnt in the world of coastal commerce, Balaji brought negotiating skills, the capacity to lead men in battle and a network of Brahmin bureaucrats and bankers able to provide the administrative framework for Shahu’s regime. He rose to be chief organizer of Shahu’s armies in 1711, and was appointed chief administrator of Shahu’s regime with the Persian title of Peshwa, or leader in 1713.4


Rumours that Balaji was marching an army down from Pune to the coast prompted Kanhoji Angre to free Katherine Chown. At the time Kanhoji was at war with the Portuguese and constantly battling a fleet led by Sidi Kasim. With the prospect of a war with Balaji’s well-organized army, Kanhoji Angre had no desire to fight the East India Company as well. Thus he appealed to the Company for friendship, and the Company was surprised by the favourable terms he offered. Kanhoji returned the property he had seized earlier, promised never again to ‘meddle with any English ships’ and granted English merchants free use of his ports. Lieutenant Mackintosh, the English officer sent with 30,000 rupees in ransom to collect Katherine, described how she had ‘most courageously withstood all Angre’s base usage, and endured his insults beyond expectation’. There is, however, no evidence that she was treated badly at all.5


In fact, the rumours that Kanhoji had heard were wrong. Balaji Viswanath was coming to woo him rather that to fight, marching with the aim of enlisting Kanhoji as an ally within Shahu’s expanding Mughal-sponsored Maratha regime. The two men met at Lonavala, the resting place halfway between Pune and Bombay where the road up from the sea meets the Deccan plain. Balaji’s idea was to appeal to Kanhoji’s Maratha patriotism and their common maritime homeland. Both men were loyal to the Maratha regime; they were also both from the same strip of coast between the sea and the Western Ghats, and shared a common dialect and sense of superiority over their landlocked compatriots. The plan worked. Kanhoji switched sides in the Maratha civil war, was given control of all the sea forts under Maratha control and allied his naval and financial clout with Shahu’s land-based forces. It was as the leader of the Maratha state’s seaborne forces that this ‘pirate’, once so desperate for the East India Company’s friendship, became early eighteenth-century British India’s greatest foe.


Economical states


The rebirth of the Maratha regime under Shahu, Kanhoji and Balaji was part of a broader set of changes which took place in India during the early eighteenth century, years which saw the reconfiguration of Mughal power. The network of alliances and Persian-speaking officials which had allowed the Mughal empire to exercise authority throughout India began to fragment. Effective government authority now moved to new regional states that claimed to govern in the name of the emperor, but administered on their own: Arcot and Hyderabad in the south and south-east, Bengal and Awadh to the east, the Marathas in the west. Each of these were autonomous regimes created by former members of the Mughal nobility. Each thrived by creating a more centralized form of administration in its own domain, based on a strong relationship with merchants and a close connection with the countryside. To the English, each seemed to offer new challenges to the East India Company’s capacity to profit from India, ensuring the relationship was fractious, difficult and occasionally violent. They were certainly powerful enough to ensure the Company did not expand beyond its scattered outposts.
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